Separating the Degree Spectra of Structures

Tyler John Markkanen, Ph.D.

University of Connecticut, 2009

In computable model theory, mathematical structures are studied on the basis of their computability or computational complexity. The degree spectrum $DgSp(\mathfrak{A})$ of a countable structure \mathfrak{A} is one way to measure the computability of the structure. Given various classes of countable structures, such as linear orders, groups, and graphs, we separate two classes \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 in the following way: we say that \mathcal{K}_1 is distinguished from \mathcal{K}_2 with respect to degree spectrum if there is an $\mathfrak{A} \in \mathcal{K}_1$ such that for all $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathcal{K}_2$, $DgSp(\mathfrak{A}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{B})$. In the dissertation, we will investigate this separation idea. We look at specific choices for \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 —for example, we show that linear orders are distinguished from finite-component graphs, equivalence structures, rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups, and daisy graphs with respect to degree spectrum. Out of these proofs, there comes a general pattern for the kinds of structures from which linear orders are distinguished with respect to degree spectrum. In the future, we may also replace linear orders with possibly more general kinds of structures.

Separating the Degree Spectra of Structures

Tyler John Markkanen

M.S. Mathematics, University of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut, 2006B.S. Mathematics, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Troy, New York, 2004

A Dissertation

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

University of Connecticut

Copyright by

Tyler John Markkanen

APPROVAL PAGE

Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation

Separating the Degree Spectra of Structures

Presented by

Tyler John Markkanen

Major Advisor

David Reed Solomon

Associate Advisor

Joseph S. Miller

Associate Advisor

Manuel Lerman

University of Connecticut

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This dissertation would not be possible without the support from my family, professors, fellow graduate students, and colleagues who have helped throughout my life and especially through my time in grad school at UConn.

I thank my major advisor, Prof. Reed Solomon, for his unmatched, painstaking dedication to his students. My success as a grad student in math is undoubtedly due in large part to Reed's continuous patience and to the thoroughness, clarity, and intellect with which he teaches his students math. After taking Reed's Intro to Mathematical Logic in the Fall of 05, I was hooked on the subject and never looked back. While it was a long and bumpy road for me to get acquainted with both logic and my specific branch, computability theory, I couldn't have assembled a better band of professors without inventing intergalactic space travel, a time machine, and populating my advisory committee with Vulcans from the future. Because it's logic, see?

I thank Prof. Joe Miller, who was among the great group of logicians at UConn and who was my major advisor up until my final year in grad school. Joe first gave me a project to study the universality of certain structure properties in computable model theory, and although Joe moved and began work at the University of Wisconsin–Madison in the Fall of 08, he was still able via Skype[©] (paid advertisement) to help me advance my research, give me valuable advice, engage me in otherwise "random" conversations, and compare me unfavorably to Andrew Polonsky. I aspire towards Joe's seemingly effortless ability to grasp mathematics, and I thank him for his hard work and dedication to help me succeed as I sought my doctorate.

I thank Prof. Manny Lerman, who has encouraged me since my first day of grad school. During my first few years at UConn, Manny was the Graduate Chair of the Math Department, and I appreciate all his support of my academic success throughout that time. As the man who literally wrote the book on modern computability theory (Lerman [25]), Manny has been an inspirational professor and a mathematician whom my fellow graduate students and I respect and admire.

In addition to my academic advisors, there are countless others in my life whom I wish to thank. My fellow UConn grad students, Matt, Oscar, and Amy, and UConn postdoc fellow, Asher, have all helped me in studying logic and in preparing this dissertation, or more accurately, for distracting me from preparing this dissertation. Thank you to Bob, Russell, Matt, and Mike for making grad school more fun than it probably should have been, and for teaching me that rocket launchers are dishonorable. I thank all my UConn professors, with special thanks to Alex Russell and Jc Beal, who graciously taught mathematicians qua computer scientists and philosophers in their classes, and to Chuck Vinsonhaler, who helped me with my teaching. My undergrad professors also deserve my gratitude. Thank you to the Math Department at RPI, especially to Profs. Donald Drew, Victor Roytburd, Harry McLaughlin, and Lester Rubenfeld.

On a very personal note, I owe countless hours of thank-yous to George Lucas, Matt Roloff, Simon Cowell, Gordon Ramsey, Oprah Winfrey, Jack Bauer, and John Locke. Extra special thanks to Richard Dawson, Ray Combs, Louie Anderson, Richard Karn, and John O'Hurley. Thank you to my church family in Collinsville, CT, especially to my pastor, Rev. Jim Wheeler and his wife Judy, and to my choir director, Sue Wittmer, who had the least to do with this thesis out of anyone I've mentioned yet. Finally, thank you Mom, Dad, Nana, Chris, Julie, Miika, Nikolai, and Annika. I love you all, decreasingly in that order.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction		4
1.1	Computable model theory	4
1.2	Results of Richter	7
1.3	A result of Knight	11
1.4	Summary of results	14
2. E	Extending Knight's result	16
2.1	The extension	16
2.2	Finite-component graphs	24
2.3	Equivalence structures	27
2.4	Rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups	28
3. Families of sets		32
3.1	Extending to enumerations of families of sets	33
3.2	Application to Daisy Graphs	39

Bibliography

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Computable model theory

This dissertation is in computable model theory. We will assume that the reader is familiar with the basic notions of computable model theory as presented in Ash & Knight [2] and Downey [12].

In this dissertation, all languages are computable and all structures are countable. Specifically, every structure \mathfrak{A} is assumed to have domain (or universe) $|\mathfrak{A}| = \mathbb{N}$. We drop mention of the specific language in use (e.g., we often write "structure" instead of " \mathcal{L} -structure") either when the mention of it is unimportant or when the language is clear from context.

Now in order for us to study computable model theory, we first need a way to measure the computational complexity of structures. The *degree* of a structure measures such complexity and is defined as follows.

Definition 1.1.1. Let \mathcal{L} be a computable language, and let \mathfrak{A} be an \mathcal{L} -structure with domain $|\mathfrak{A}| = \mathbb{N}$. The *degree* of \mathfrak{A} , denoted deg(\mathfrak{A}), is the Turing degree of

the set

 $D(\mathfrak{A}) = \{\varphi(\overline{a}) \mid \varphi(\overline{x}) \text{ is an atomic or negated atomic } \mathcal{L}\text{-formula and } \mathfrak{A} \models \varphi(\overline{a})\}.$

We call $D(\mathfrak{A})$ the *atomic diagram* of \mathfrak{A} . In this definition, and throughout this dissertation, we equate formulas with their Gödel numbers.

One tool that captures the entire range of possible degrees (or codings) of a structure \mathfrak{A} is the *degree spectrum* of \mathfrak{A} , defined as follows.

Definition 1.1.2. Let \mathfrak{A} be a countable structure. The *degree spectrum* (or *spectrum*) of \mathfrak{A} , denoted $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A})$, is the set

$$\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) = \{ \mathrm{deg}(\mathfrak{B}) \mid \mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A} \}.$$

As a quick note on terminology, an *isomorphic copy*, a *copy*, and a *presentation* of \mathfrak{A} will all mean the same thing: a structure \mathfrak{B} isomorphic to \mathfrak{A} . For a Turing degree \mathbf{d} , a \mathbf{d} -copy or a \mathbf{d} -presentation of \mathfrak{A} is just a structure $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$ such that deg(\mathfrak{B}) = \mathbf{d} .

For any structure that we discuss, we can assume its degree spectrum is closed upwards. Indeed, Julia Knight shows in [23] that degree spectra are closed upwards for *nontrivial* structures:

Theorem 1.1.3 (Knight). Let \mathfrak{A} be a structure in a relational language. Then exactly one of the following holds:

(1) If
$$\mathbf{d} \geq \deg(\mathfrak{A})$$
, then $\mathbf{d} = \deg(\mathfrak{B})$ for some $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$.

(2) There is a finite $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ such that all permutations of \mathbb{N} that fix S are automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} .

In the intro chapter of Hirschfeldt, Khoussainov, Shore, and Slinko [20], we see some theorems concerning degree spectra, two of which we state below. The first theorem is a restatement of Theorem 1.1.3, only now we say that a structure \mathfrak{A} is *trivial* if it satisfies condition (2) above. The second theorem tells of a structure whose degree spectrum contains all degrees but $\mathbf{0} = \deg_T(\emptyset)$.

Theorem 1.1.4 (Thm 1.19 in [20], Knight). If \mathfrak{A} is not trivial, then $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A})$ is closed upward.

Theorem 1.1.5 (Thm 1.20 in [20], Slaman; Wehner). There is a structure \mathfrak{A} such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) = \mathbf{D} - \{\mathbf{0}\}$, where \mathbf{D} is the set of all Turing degrees.

By a *class* of structures, we mean the collection of all structures that model a fixed theory. Now, given two distinct classes of structures, we wish to compare them based on the complexity of their structures, so we'll ask questions about the structures' degree spectra. One way to compare the degree spectra of structures from one class and the degree spectra of structures in another class is to answer the question, "Given two classes of structures \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 , is there a structure $\mathfrak{A} \in \mathcal{K}_1$ such that for *every* structure $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathcal{K}_2$, $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{B})$?" Questions of this form are the driving force of this dissertation.

1.2 Results of Richter

Implicit in our use of degree *spectra*, when comparing two structures, is the fact that the *degree* of a structure alone is not enough. Indeed, $deg(\mathfrak{A})$ is not isomorphically invariant—sometimes $deg(\mathfrak{A}) \neq deg(\hat{\mathfrak{A}})$ even when $\mathfrak{A} \cong \hat{\mathfrak{A}}$. Linda Jean Richter partially remedies this problem in her thesis [28]. Indeed, we can often pin down one particular degree for all the isomorphic copies of a structure. If $DgSp(\mathfrak{A})$ has a least element, then we define the *degree of the isomorphism class of* \mathfrak{A} to be that least degree. To give a little background in the chapters to come, we'll now present some of Richter's results from [28] that explore degrees of isomorphism classes.

Definition 1.2.1. Given a structure \mathfrak{A} , a finite structure \mathfrak{C} , and an embedding $f: \mathfrak{C} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$, define the class

 $A_{\mathfrak{C},f} = \{\mathfrak{D} \mid \mathfrak{D} \text{ is a finite structure extending } \mathfrak{C}$

and embeddable in \mathfrak{A} by a map extending f.

The structure \mathfrak{A} is said to satisfy the *Computable Embeddability Condition (CEC)* iff for all finite \mathfrak{C} embeddable in \mathfrak{A} and for all functions f embedding \mathfrak{C} into \mathfrak{A} , $A_{\mathfrak{C},f}$ is computable.

Theorem 1.2.2 (Richter). For any countable structure \mathfrak{A} which satisfies the CEC, there is an isomorphic structure \mathfrak{B} such that $\{\deg(\mathfrak{A}), \deg(\mathfrak{B})\}$ is a minimal pair (i.e., if $\mathbf{c} \leq \deg(\mathfrak{A})$ and $\mathbf{c} \leq \deg(\mathfrak{B})$, then $\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{0}$). Richter showed that countable linear orders satisfy the CEC and hence obtained the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2.3 (Richter). For any countable linear order \mathfrak{L} , if $DgSp(\mathfrak{L})$ has a least element, then that element is **0**.

The following theorem of Richter shows the conditions in which a sequence of special finite structures can be combined to form a structure whose spectrum can have any least element of our choosing.

Theorem 1.2.4 (Richter). Let \mathcal{K} be a class of structures. If

- 1. there is a computable sequence $\mathfrak{A}_0, \mathfrak{A}_1, \ldots$ of finite structures such that $\mathfrak{A}_i \not\hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}_j$ for all $i \neq j$, and
- 2. for each $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, there is a structure \mathfrak{A}_S such that:
 - (a) $\mathfrak{A}_S \in \mathcal{K}$, (b) $D(\mathfrak{A}_S) \leq_T S$, and (c) $\mathfrak{A}_i \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{A}_S$ iff $i \in S$,

then, for any degree \mathbf{d} , there is an $\mathfrak{A} \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $\mathbf{d} = \min \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A})$.

For a concrete example of this, we can apply the theorem to *finite-component* graphs.

Definition 1.2.5. In the following definitions, we assume graphs to be directed graphs.

(1) A graph is *connected* if every pair of vertices is connected by a sequence of edges.

(2) The *components* of a graph are its maximal connected subgraphs.

(3) A *finite-component graph* is a graph with only finite components.

Corollary 1.2.6. For every degree \mathbf{d} , there is a finite-component graph $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}}$ such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}})$ has least element \mathbf{d} .

Proof. Let \mathcal{K} be the class of finite-component graphs, and let \mathfrak{A}_i be a cycle of size i+2 (i.e., a graph whose set of edges has the form

$$\{(a_0, a_1), (a_1, a_2), \dots, (a_i, a_{i+1}), (a_{i+1}, a_0)\}.\}$$

For every $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, let \mathfrak{A}_S be the disjoint union of cycles \mathfrak{A}_i for all $i \in S$. By Theorem 1.2.4, our desired $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}}$ exists. (Notice the reason that (b) holds. The set of edges $E^{\mathfrak{A}_S}$ of \mathfrak{A}_S is c.e. in S. So given the question, "Is it the case that $vE^{\mathfrak{A}_S}u$?" for two vertices v and u, first determine whether or not v and u are in the same cycle of \mathfrak{A}_S by listing $E^{\mathfrak{A}_S}$ and eventually finding all the vertices of the one or two cycles needed. If v and u are in separate cycles or if they are in the same cycle and are not connected by an edge, we output "no," but otherwise we output "yes.")

Now we have a specific example as a positive answer to our main question, "Given two classes of structures \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 , is there a structure $\mathfrak{A} \in \mathcal{K}_1$ such that for *every* structure $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathcal{K}_2$, $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{B})$?" **Theorem 1.2.7.** There is a finite-component graph \mathfrak{G} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{G}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{L})$ for all linear orders \mathfrak{L} .

Proof. Fix a linear order \mathfrak{L} , and let $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}}$ be as in Corollary 1.2.6 for $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{0}' = \deg_T(\emptyset')$, where $\emptyset' = \{e \mid \varphi_e(e) \downarrow\}$. Then $\mathbf{0} \notin \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}})$, which has a least element, $\mathbf{0}'$. But by Theorem 1.2.3 it's either the case that $\mathbf{0} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$ or $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$ has no least element. So $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}})$.

As another note on directed graphs, although the proof of Theorem 1.1.5 originally used more exotic structures, it can be modified to show that there is a *directed graph* whose degree spectrum is all the degrees but **0**. Now in light of our above result, this highlights an open question: Can a linear order achieve this spectrum? In Chapter 2, we will prove the reverse separation of degree spectra for finite-component graphs and linear orders. Namely, we will show that there is a linear order whose degree spectrum cannot be realized by any finite-component graph.

Rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups give a second example of this kind of theorem.

Definition 1.2.1. (1) A group \mathfrak{G} is said to have *torsion* if there is an element of finite order, and \mathfrak{G} is *torsion-free* otherwise.

(2) The rank of a group \mathfrak{G} is the least n such that \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to a subgroup of \mathbb{Q}^n . So a rank-1 group is a group isomorphic to a subgroup of \mathbb{Q} .

In Coles, Downey, and Slaman [7], we have a proof of the following.

Theorem 1.2.8 (Downey). For every degree \mathbf{d} , there is a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}}$ such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G}_{\mathbf{d}})$ has least element \mathbf{d} .

So by arguing as in Theorem 1.2.7, we can make another separation of degree spectra:

Theorem 1.2.9. There is a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group \mathfrak{G} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{G}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{L})$ for all linear orders \mathfrak{L} .

In Chapter 2, we will prove the reverse separation of degree spectra for rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups and linear orders. Namely, we will show that there is a linear order whose degree spectrum cannot be realized by any rank-1 torsion-free abelian group.

1.3 A result of Knight

There are some degree spectra without a least element. For example, as seen from Theorem 1.2.3, if a linear order \mathfrak{L} has no **0**-presentation, then $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$ has no least element. In response to this, instead of finding the least of the *degrees*, Carl Jockusch suggested finding the least of the jump(s) of the degrees. Recall that for a set X, the *jump* of X is the set $X' = \{e \mid \varphi_e^X(e) \downarrow\}$, and the n^{th} *jump* of X for n > 0 is $X^{(n)} = (X^{(n-1)})'$, where $X^{(0)} = X$. Also, if $\mathbf{x} = \deg_T(X)$, then we write $\mathbf{x}^{(n)} = \deg_T(X^{(n)}), \, \mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \, \mathbf{x}'' = \mathbf{x}^{(2)}$, and $\mathbf{x}''' = \mathbf{x}^{(3)}$. **Definition 1.3.1.** A structure \mathfrak{A} has n^{th} jump degree **d** if

$$\mathbf{d} = \min\{\deg(\mathfrak{B})^{(n)} \mid \mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}\}.$$

Knight [23] shows the following.

Theorem 1.3.2 (Knight). If a linear order \mathfrak{L} has a jump degree (i.e., a 1st jump degree), then that degree is $\mathbf{0}'$.

So we see that linear orders with no presentation of low degree (a subclass of the linear orders with no **0**-presentation) will be without jump degree. Also, this leads to a certain separation of degree spectra for *equivalence structures* and linear orders:

There is an equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{E}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$ for any linear order \mathfrak{L} .

Definition 1.3.3. An equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} is a structure consisting of one relation $\sim_{\mathfrak{E}}$ that is an equivalence relation (i.e., for all $x, y, z \in |\mathfrak{E}|$, we have $x \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} x, x \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} y \implies y \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} x$, and $x \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} y \wedge y \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} z \implies x \sim_{\mathfrak{E}} z$). For each $x \in |\mathfrak{E}|$, let $[x]_{\mathfrak{E}}$ denote the equivalence class of \mathfrak{E} that contains x.

Theorem 1.3.4. Let $d \ge 0'$. There is an equivalence structure with jump degree d.

Proof. Fix $D \in \mathbf{d}$ such that $0 \notin D$, without loss of generality. Let $\mathfrak{E} = (\mathbb{N}, \sim_{\mathfrak{E}})$ be the equivalence structure with

- one class of size 2n for each $n \in D$,
- one class of size 2n + 1 for each $n \notin D$, and
- infinitely many classes of infinite size.

To show that \mathfrak{E} has jump degree \mathbf{d} , it suffices to show that (1) for any $\mathfrak{F} \cong \mathfrak{E}$, $D \leq_T D(\mathfrak{F})'$ and that (2) there is an $\mathfrak{F} \cong \mathfrak{E}$ such that $D(\mathfrak{F})' \leq_T D$.

(1): Let $\mathfrak{F} = (\mathbb{N}, \sim_{\mathfrak{F}})$ be isomorphic to \mathfrak{E} . For any s, let $\mathfrak{F}_s = (\{0, 1, \ldots, s\}, \sim_{\mathfrak{F}})$. For each $x \leq s$, $D(\mathfrak{F})'$ can answer

$$(\exists y > s)x \sim_{\mathfrak{F}} y.$$

If "No," then $[x]_{\mathfrak{F}_s} = [x]_{\mathfrak{F}}$, and so $D(\mathfrak{F})'$ knows $|[x]_{\mathfrak{F}}|$. To compute D, at each stage s, $D(\mathfrak{F})'$ asks for each $x \leq s$ whether $[x]_{\mathfrak{F}_s} = [x]_{\mathfrak{F}}$ and, if they are equal, calculates $|[x]_{\mathfrak{F}_s}|$. Eventually $D(\mathfrak{F})'$ finds a class of size 2n or 2n + 1 and can thus correctly determine whether $n \in D$.

(2) By the Friedberg Jump Inversion Theorem (i.e., Thm VI.3.1 in Soare [30], called there the Friedberg Completeness Criterion), fix C such that $C' \equiv_T D$. We show that there is an $\mathfrak{F} \cong \mathfrak{E}$ such that $D(\mathfrak{F}) \leq_T C$ (so that $D(\mathfrak{F})' \leq_T C' \equiv_T D$). Since $D \leq_T C'$, the Relativized Limit Lemma shows there is a C-computable function f(x, s) such that

$$x \in D \iff \lim_{s \to \infty} f(x, s) = 1$$
 and $x \notin D \iff \lim_{s \to \infty} f(x, s) = 0$

Build \mathfrak{F} in stages:

At stage s, for each $x \leq s$, calculate f(x, s) using C. If f(x, s) = 1 and there is currently no \mathfrak{F} -class of size 2x, then add one. If there is an \mathfrak{F} -class of size 2x + 1, then turn it into an infinite class. If f(x, s) = 0 and there is no \mathfrak{F} -class of size 2x + 1, then add one. If there is an \mathfrak{F} -class of size 2x, then turn it into an infinite class. Also, add one new infinite class at each stage.

So as mentioned we obtain the following separation of degree spectra.

Theorem 1.3.5. There is an equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{E}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{L})$ for any linear order \mathfrak{L} .

Proof. Let \mathfrak{E} be an equivalence structure with jump degree > 0'. Let \mathfrak{L} be a linear order. By Theorem 1.3.2, \mathfrak{L} can only have jump degree 0'. Therefore, $\{\deg(\mathfrak{B})' \mid \mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{E}\} \neq \{\deg(\mathfrak{B})' \mid \mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{L}\}, \text{ so } DgSp(\mathfrak{E}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{L}).$

1.4 Summary of results

Given two classes of structures, \mathcal{K}_1 and \mathcal{K}_2 , we say that \mathcal{K}_1 is distinguished from \mathcal{K}_2 with respect to degree spectrum if there is an $\mathfrak{A} \in \mathcal{K}_1$ such that for every $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathcal{K}_2$, $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{B})$. From known results in computable model theory, we have seen some classes of structures that are distinguished from linear orders with respect to degree spectrum. In the coming chapters, we will reverse the question and show that linear orders are distinguished from the following classes:

- finite-component graphs,
- equivalence structures,
- rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups, and
- daisy graphs.

Although we will wait until Chapter 3 for the definition of daisy graphs, we will note here that there is a significant difference between the method we use for the first three of these classes and the method we use for daisy graphs. Indeed, the first three of these classes have canonical codes in the form of *sets*, whereas daisy graph have canonical codes in the form of *families of sets*. Chapter 2 is devoted to canonical codes that are *sets*. Section 2.1 extends the results of Knight ultimately linking degree spectra with sets. Sections 2.2-2.4 then apply this method to finite-component graphs, equivalence structures, and rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups. Chapter 3 is devoted to canonical codes that are *families of sets*. Section 3.1 takes a step beyond the methods of Section 2.1 to now link degree spectra with families of sets. And Section 3.2 applies this to daisy graph and in fact shows a general setup for the potential of more applications in the future.

Chapter 2

Extending Knight's result

2.1 The extension

We wish to find more examples that separate the degree spectra of structures in the sense of Chapter 1. And in fact, by first extending a theorem of Knight, we'll find examples of the specific form, "There is a linear order whose degree spectrum is not that of any <u>(name of other structure here)</u>." Now Theorem 3.5 of Knight [23] says that if the jump of every copy of a linear order computes a fixed set $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, then in fact \emptyset' computes S. In other words,

Theorem 2.1.1 (Knight [23]). Let \mathfrak{A} be a linear order, and suppose that $S \leq_T D(\mathfrak{B})'$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$. Then $S \leq_T \emptyset'$.

To obtain the desired extending theorem, we have the following Σ_1^0 version of Theorem 2.1.1, and the rest of this section is devoted to its proof:

(Theorem 2.1.14.) If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ such that $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})'}$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, then $S \in \Sigma_2^0$.

This will be stated as Theorem 2.1.14 at the end of the section. Now to prove Theorem 2.1.14, we will use the forcing methods of §1 in [23] to build a particular copy of the linear order \mathfrak{A} which will lead to the conclusion that $S \in \Sigma_2^0$. Specifically, fix a structure \mathfrak{A} . The set F of forcing conditions is the set of finite partial 1-1 functions $\mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ ordered by extension \supseteq . A chain of forcing conditions $p_0 \subseteq p_1 \subseteq \cdots$ yields a permutation $p = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} p_i$ of \mathbb{N} and the resulting model \mathfrak{B} has its structure given by pulling the structure over from \mathfrak{A} by p. That is, we make p an isomorphism between the structures.

We recall the definitions of the forcing statements used in [23] and add new statements needed for the proof of Theorem 2.1.14. Intuitively speaking, the notation $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$ will mean that \mathfrak{A} is the structure being copied and p forces ψ , where ψ is a select statement about the atomic diagram of the copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} being built. Note that in the forcing language, D is used to denote $D(\mathfrak{B})$, and $D^{(m)}$ is used to denote $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}$.

Definition 2.1.2. Let $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$ be defined as follows.

1. ψ is $k \in D$:

 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff k$ is an *open* sentence (i.e., a sentence without quantifiers, recalling that we identify sentences with their Gödel numbers) with constants from ran(p) and the corresponding sentence with constants from dom(p) is in $D(\mathfrak{A})$.

 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi \iff \text{ either } k \text{ is not an open sentence in the language of } D(\mathfrak{B}) \text{ or }$

k is such a sentence and $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} l \in D$, where l is the code for the negation of the formula coded by k.

2. ψ is $k \in D^{(m)}$ for some m > 0:

 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff$ there are finite sets α and β such that $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \in D^{(m-1)}$ for all $k \in \alpha$, $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \notin D^{(m-1)}$ for all $k \in \beta$, and if $\alpha \subseteq X \subseteq \mathbb{N} - \beta$, then there is a halting computation of $\varphi_k^X(k)$ (using just this information about X). $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi \iff$ there is no $q \supseteq p$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$.

Notice that forcing negation here is different than for m = 0.

3. ψ is $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l$:

 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff$ there are finite sets α, β such that $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \in D^{(m)}$ for all $k \in \alpha$, $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \notin D^{(m)}$ for all $k \in \beta$, and $\alpha \subseteq X \subseteq \mathbb{N} - \beta$ makes $\varphi_e^X(k) = l$ (i.e., some computation uses just this information about X).

 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi \iff \text{there is no } q \supseteq p \text{ such that } q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi.$

4. ψ is $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k)$ converges:

$$\begin{split} p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_{e}^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l \text{ for some } l. \\ p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi \text{ (i.e., } p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_{e}^{D^{(m)}}(k) \text{ diverges)} \iff \text{ there is no } q \supseteq p \text{ such that} \\ q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi. \end{split}$$

After defining the needed forcing statements, §1 of [23] proceeds to describe how we actually build the desired copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} . For every n, let S(n) be the set of statements of the forms $k \in D^{(m)}$, $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l$, and $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k)$ converges, for $m \leq n$. Let $p_0 \subseteq p_1 \subseteq \cdots$ be an *n*-complete forcing sequence for S(n) (i.e., a sequence such that for every $\psi \in S(n)$, there is an *i* such that $p_i \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$ or $p_i \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi$), and let $\pi = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} p_i$. Then π is a permutation of \mathbb{N} , and $(p_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ determines a generic copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} such that $\mathfrak{A} \cong_{\pi} \mathfrak{B}$. Now we get the essential fact that S(n)-truth in \mathfrak{B} is exactly forced, that is:

Fact 2.1.3 (Lemma 1.1 of Knight [23]). For all $\psi \in S(n)$, ψ is true of \mathfrak{B} iff for some $i, p_i \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$.

To capture the notion that $S \leq_T D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}$ in the proof of Theorem 2.1.1, [23] continues the above list with an added informal forcing statement:

5.
$$\psi$$
 is $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}} = \chi_S$ for some $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$:
 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff$ for all k , there is some $q \supseteq p$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = \chi_S(k)$,
and for all $l \neq \chi_S(k)$, there is no $q \supseteq p$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l$.

This is not a formal forcing statement, since it is not preserved under extensions. Also, this motivates the definition of a new *quasi* forcing statement that will be useful to us. We use the notation " $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p$ " (echoing modal logic's *possibility* symbol \Diamond) instead of " $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}}$ " to indicate that the statement is not preserved under extensions (as formal forcing statements should be). Because our goal is to prove Theorem 2.1.14, we must capture the idea of S being $\Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})'}$ when building \mathfrak{B} , hence the following continuation of Definition 2.1.2. **Definition 2.1.4.** Let $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p} \psi$ be defined as follows.

5.
$$\psi$$
 is $W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S$ for some $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$:
 $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S \iff S = \{k \mid (\exists q \supseteq p)(\exists l)q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l\}.$

As a final note on forcing before heading to our new results, we know that, for the basic statements ψ , it is easy to determine whether $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$. Specifically, we have the following fact.

Fact 2.1.5 (Lemma 1.2 of Knight [23]). The relations $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \in D$ and $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \notin D$ are computable in $D(\mathfrak{A})$. For m > 0, the relation $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \in D^{(m)}$ is c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{A})^{(m-1)}$, and the relation $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} k \notin D^{(m)}$ is computable in $D(\mathfrak{A})^{(m)}$.

In addition to forcing, we'll also use several properties of a family of equivalence relations \sim_n between tuples.

Definition 2.1.6. For structures \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} and tuples $\overline{a} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ and $\overline{b} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$, recursively define $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ for all n as follows.

- 1. $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_0 \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ if \overline{a} and \overline{b} satisfy the same open formulas, and
- 2. $\overline{a} \sim_{n+1} \overline{b}$ if for all $\overline{c} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$, there is a $\overline{d} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$ such that $\overline{a}, \overline{c}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \overline{b}, \overline{d}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, and for each $\overline{d} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$, there is a $\overline{c} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ such that $\overline{a}, \overline{c}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \overline{b}, \overline{d}_{\mathfrak{B}}$.

We say that $\mathfrak{A} \sim_n \mathfrak{B}$ if $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{B}}$.

To get an intuitive understanding of \sim_n , fix \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} to be countable linear orders, and let $\overline{a} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ and $\overline{b} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$. Then $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_0 \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ if \overline{a} and \overline{b} are ordered in the same way, and $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_1 \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ if \overline{a} and \overline{b} are ordered in the same way and partition \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} into intervals with the same number of elements. Our intuition starts to fade at the n = 2 level and beyond.

We are now prepared for the gauntlet of lemmas and facts that will yield the proof of Theorem 2.1.14. We start with the following Σ_1^0 versions of Lemmas 1.3 and 1.4 of [23].

Lemma 2.1.7. Suppose that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S$. Then $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{A})^{(m)}}$.

Proof. Consider the set of tuples of the form $(q, k, l, \alpha, \beta, C)$, where $q \supseteq p, q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} j \in D^{(m)}$ for all $j \in \alpha, q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} j \notin D^{(m)}$ for all $j \in \beta$, and C is a computation of $\varphi_e^X(k) = l$ using just the information that $\alpha \subseteq X \subseteq \mathbb{N} - \beta$. So by Fact 2.1.5, this set of tuples is c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{A})^{(m)}$. Then our hypothesis shows that for each k, $\chi_S(k) = 1$ if and only if there will be some tuple $(q, k, l, \alpha, \beta, C)$.

Lemma 2.1.8. For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, the following are equivalent:

(1) $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$. (2) For some e and some $p \in F$, $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S$.

Proof. Suppose that (1) holds. For a contradiction, assume that for every p and $e, \Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p} W_{e}^{D^{(m)}} = S$ does not hold. Define a sequence of forcing conditions $p_{0} \subseteq p_{1} \subseteq \cdots$ such that the resulting model \mathfrak{B} with $p : \mathfrak{A} \to \mathfrak{B}$ does not satisfy $S \in \Sigma_{1}^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$. Specifically, define this sequence to be *m*-complete for S(m), interleaved with conditions that we will now explicitly define. Start with $p_{0} = \emptyset$. Assume that we have p_e . By hypothesis, $\diamondsuit_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p_e} W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S$ does not hold. There are two cases. For the first case, suppose that there exists $k \in S$ such that for all $q \supseteq p_e$ and $l \in \mathbb{N}$, $q \not\models_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l$. Then let $p_{e+1} = p_e$, as we already have that $k \notin W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$. For the second case, suppose that there exist $k \notin S$, $q \supseteq p_e$, and $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $q \not\models_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(k) = l$. Then let $p_{e+1} = q$ and we have now forced that $k \in W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$.

Next suppose that (2) holds. By Lemma 2.1.7, $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{A})^{(m)}}$. Suppose $\mathfrak{A} \cong_f \mathfrak{B}$. If p takes \overline{a} to \overline{k} , let q take $f(\overline{a})$ to \overline{k} . Then $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^q W_e^{D^{(m)}} = S$, and by Lemma 2.1.7, $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$.

The next fact comes directly from [23].

Fact 2.1.9 (Lemma 2.2 of Knight [23]). Let $\overline{a} \in \mathfrak{A}$ and $\overline{b} \in \mathfrak{B}$. Suppose $p(\overline{a}) = q(\overline{b}) = \overline{k}$. If $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, then $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l$ iff $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l$.

Now we have the following analogue to Lemma 2.3 of [23].

Lemma 2.1.10. Let $\overline{a} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ and $\overline{b} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$. Suppose $p(\overline{a}) = q(\overline{b}) = \overline{k}$. If $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{n+1} \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, then $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(n)}} = S$ iff $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^q W_e^{D^{(n)}} = S$.

Proof. Suppose that $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{n+1} \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, and let

$$P_{\mathfrak{A}} = \{k \mid (\exists p' \supseteq p)(\exists l)p' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l\};$$
$$P_{\mathfrak{B}} = \{k \mid (\exists q' \supseteq q)(\exists l)q' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l\}.$$

Since $p(\overline{a}) = q(\overline{b}) = \overline{k}$ and $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{n+1} \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, we have that for every $p' \supseteq p$, there is a $q' \supseteq q$ such $\operatorname{dom}(p')_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \operatorname{dom}(q')_{\mathfrak{B}}$, and for every $q' \supseteq q$, there is a $p' \supseteq p$ such

that dom $(p')_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \operatorname{dom}(q')_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Therefore, Fact 2.1.9 shows that for any k, $(\exists p' \supseteq p)(\exists l)p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l$ iff $(\exists q' \supseteq q)(\exists l)q' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(n)}}(k) = l$. So $P_{\mathfrak{A}} = P_{\mathfrak{B}}$. \Box

The following are the final two facts we need before proving Theorem 2.1.14. To state the first fact, we define the following terminology.

Definition 2.1.11. A linear order \mathfrak{A} has the \sim_n -property if there is a computable linear order \mathfrak{B} such that $\mathfrak{A} \sim_n \mathfrak{B}$.

Fact 2.1.12 (Lemma 3.4 of Knight [23]). Every linear order has the \sim_2 -property.

Fact 2.1.13 (Lemma 3.2 of Knight [23]). Let $\overline{a} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ and $\overline{b} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$. Let I_i and J_i be the intervals in \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} , respectively, such that $\mathfrak{A} = I_0 + \{a_1\} + I_1 + \dots + \{a_n\} + I_n$ and $\mathfrak{B} = J_0 + \{b_1\} + J_1 + \dots + \{b_n\} + J_n$. Then $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ iff $I_i \sim_n J_i$ for all $i = 0, \dots, n$.

Theorem 2.1.14. If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ such that $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})'}$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, then $S \in \Sigma_2^0$.

Proof. Let \mathfrak{A} and S be as in the hypothesis. By Lemma 2.1.8, there is a $p \in F$ such that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p} W_{e}^{D'} = S$. Let dom(p) consist of $a_{0} < \cdots < a_{n-1}$. For 0 < i < n, let I_{i} be the interval (a_{i-1}, a_{i}) . Let I_{0} be $(-\infty, a_{0})$ if a_{0} is not the first element of \mathfrak{A} , and \emptyset otherwise; and let I_{n} be (a_{n}, ∞) if a_{n} is not the last element of \mathfrak{A} and \emptyset otherwise. There are computable orderings J_{i} such that $J_{i} \sim_{2} I_{i}$, by Fact 2.1.12. Replacing each I_{i} by J_{i} produces a computable ordering \mathfrak{B} such that dom $(p)_{\mathfrak{B}} \sim_{2} \operatorname{dom}(p)_{\mathfrak{A}}$. (This uses Fact 2.1.13.) Then $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^{p} W_{e}^{D'} = S$, and $S \in \Sigma_{1}^{D(\mathfrak{B})'} = \Sigma_{2}^{0}$.

2.2 Finite-component graphs

In order to separate the degree spectra of linear orders and other structures in the sense of the statement, "There is a linear order whose degree spectrum is not that of any <u>(name of other structure here)</u>," we can now apply Theorem 2.1.14 to different types of structures. Although the author now views finite-component graphs as merely an application of Theorem 2.1.14, the question of separating the degree spectra of linear orders and finite-component graphs was really one of the catalysts for this entire dissertation.

Now, using the definition of a countable finite-component graph from Section 1.2, note that the set

 $S_{\mathfrak{G}} = \{(C, n) \mid C \text{ is a component of } \mathfrak{G} \text{ occurring at least } n \text{ times}\}$

is clearly an isomorphic invariant of \mathfrak{G} (i.e., if $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{G}$, then $S_{\mathfrak{B}} = S_{\mathfrak{G}}$). The following two properties of finite-component graphs will yield our desired application.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let \mathfrak{G} be a finite-component graph. Then $S_{\mathfrak{G}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{G})'}$.

Proof. Let $D(\mathfrak{G})'$ enumerate $S_{\mathfrak{G}}$: At every stage s, print out (C, n) if there is a connected subgraph C of \mathfrak{G}_s (i.e., the graph determined by $D(\mathfrak{G})_s$) that occurs n times and that has stopped growing (a condition that $D(\mathfrak{G})'$ can correctly test) in each of those occurrences.

Lemma 2.2.2. If \mathfrak{G} is a finite-component graph, $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, and $S_{\mathfrak{G}} \in \Sigma_1^X$, then there is a $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\mathfrak{B}) \leq_T X$. *Proof.* Build \mathfrak{B} by adding components as X enumerates them into $S_{\mathfrak{G}}$.

Now we have the following corollary of Theorem 2.1.14. Note, we say that a degree **d** computes a structure \mathfrak{A} if deg(\mathfrak{A}) \leq **d**.

Theorem 2.2.3. If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and \mathfrak{G} is a finite-component graph such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$, then $\mathbf{0}'$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{G} (and so $\{\mathbf{d} \mid \mathbf{d} \geq \mathbf{0}'\} \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$).

Proof. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{G} be as in the hypothesis. Fix a copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} . Let $\hat{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T D(\mathfrak{B})$. Then by Lemma 2.2.1, $S_{\mathfrak{G}} = S_{\hat{\mathfrak{G}}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}})'} \subseteq \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})'}$. So by Theorem 2.1.14, $S_{\mathfrak{G}} \in \Sigma_1^{\mathfrak{G}'}$. Thus Lemma 2.2.2 says there is a $\tilde{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T \mathfrak{G}'$, so \mathfrak{O}' computes a copy of \mathfrak{G} . Since degree spectra are closed upward, $\{\mathbf{d} \mid \mathbf{d} \geq \mathbf{0}'\} \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$.

Finally, the following lemma on linear orders gives us the desired degree spectrum separation from finite-component graphs.

Lemma 2.2.4. For any degree d, there is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that d cannot compute a copy of \mathfrak{L} .

Proof. Fix **d**, and for some $D \in \mathbf{d}$, let $X = D^{(4)}$ such that $0 \notin X$, without loss of generality. Write $X = \{x_0 < x_1 < x_2 < \cdots\}$. Define $\zeta(X)$ to be the linear order:

$$\mathbb{Z} + x_0 + \mathbb{Z} + x_1 + \mathbb{Z} + x_2 + \cdots$$

For a linear order \mathfrak{L} , let $\operatorname{Succ}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ and $\operatorname{Bl}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ denote the successivity and block relation for \mathfrak{L} (where a *successivity* is a point paired with its successor and a *block* is a string of successive points where the first point has no predecessor and the last point has no successor). Then for all $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in |\mathfrak{L}|$,

$$\operatorname{Bl}_{\mathfrak{L}}(a_1,\ldots,a_n) \iff (\forall b) \neg \operatorname{Succ}_{\mathfrak{L}}(b,a_1) \land (\forall b) \neg \operatorname{Succ}_{\mathfrak{L}}(a_n,b) \land \bigwedge_{i < j} \operatorname{Succ}_{\mathfrak{L}}(a_i,a_j).$$

Let $\hat{\mathfrak{L}} \cong \zeta(X)$. Then, for all $n \ge 1$,

$$n \in X \iff (\exists a_1, \dots, a_n) \operatorname{Bl}_{\zeta(X)}(a_1, \dots, a_n)$$

 $\iff (\exists a_1, \dots, a_n) \operatorname{Bl}_{\hat{\mathfrak{L}}}(a_1, \dots, a_n).$

Then $X \in \Sigma_3^{D(\hat{\mathfrak{L}})}$, so $X \leq_T D(\hat{\mathfrak{L}})'''$. Clearly $\deg(\hat{\mathfrak{L}}) \not\leq \mathbf{d}$. Therefore, \mathbf{d} cannot compute a copy of $\mathfrak{L} = \zeta(X)$.

Theorem 2.2.5. There is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$ for any finite-component graph \mathfrak{G} .

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.4, let \mathfrak{L} be a linear order such that $\mathbf{0}'$ cannot compute a copy of \mathfrak{L} . For a contradiction, assume that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) = \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$ for some finite-component graph \mathfrak{G} . Then by Theorem 2.2.3, $\mathbf{d} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$ for some $\mathbf{d} \leq \mathbf{0}'$. So $\mathbf{d} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$, and $\mathbf{0}'$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{L} .

2.3 Equivalence structures

For an equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} , let

$$S_{\mathfrak{E}} = \{(n,m) \mid \mathfrak{E} \text{ has at least } m \text{ many classes of size exactly } n\}.$$

Again, if $\mathfrak{E} \cong \mathfrak{F}$, then $S_{\mathfrak{E}} = S_{\mathfrak{F}}$. Also, the isomorphism type of \mathfrak{E} is determined by $S_{\mathfrak{E}}$ together with the number of infinite equivalence classes. To obtain the same result as we did for finite-component graphs now for equivalence structures, we show the following two analogous lemmas.

Lemma 2.3.1. If \mathfrak{E} is an equivalence structure, then $S_{\mathfrak{E}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{E})'}$.

Proof. Let $D(\mathfrak{E})'$ enumerate $D(\mathfrak{E})$. At stage s, print out (n, m) if there are m many equivalence classes of size n in \mathfrak{E}_s (i.e., the equivalence structure determined by $D(\mathfrak{E})_s$), each of which has stopped growing (a condition that $D(\mathfrak{E})'$ can correctly test). Notice that nothing will be printed in the case of an infinite equivalence class of \mathfrak{E} , since they never stop growing.

Lemma 2.3.2. If \mathfrak{E} is an equivalence structure, $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, and $S_{\mathfrak{E}} \in \Sigma_1^X$, then there is an $\mathfrak{F} \cong \mathfrak{E}$ such that $D(\mathfrak{F}) \leq_T X$.

Proof. Build \mathfrak{F} by adding equivalence classes as X enumerates them into $S_{\mathfrak{E}}$. Also, nonuniformly add infinite classes to \mathfrak{F} so that \mathfrak{E} and \mathfrak{F} have the same number of infinite equivalence classes.

Then by the exact same reasoning as in the proofs of Theorems 2.2.3 and 2.2.5, we have the following two theorems.

Theorem 2.3.3. If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and \mathfrak{E} is an equivalence structure such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{E})$, then $\mathbf{0}'$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{E} (and so $\{\mathbf{d} \mid \mathbf{d} \geq \mathbf{0}'\} \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{E})$).

Proof. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{E} be as in the hypothesis. Fix a copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} . Let $\hat{\mathfrak{E}} \cong \mathfrak{E}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{E}}) \leq_T D(\mathfrak{B})$. Then by Lemma 2.3.1, $S_{\mathfrak{E}} = S_{\hat{\mathfrak{E}}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\hat{\mathfrak{E}})'} \subseteq \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})'}$. So by Theorem 2.1.14, $S_{\mathfrak{E}} \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset'}$. Thus Lemma 2.3.2 says there is an $\tilde{\mathfrak{E}} \cong \mathfrak{E}$ such that $D(\tilde{\mathfrak{E}}) \leq_T \emptyset'$, so $\mathbf{0}'$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{E} .

Theorem 2.3.4. There is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{L}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{E})$ for any equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} .

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.4, let \mathfrak{L} be a linear order such that $\mathbf{0}'$ cannot compute a copy of \mathfrak{L} . For a contradiction, assume that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) = \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{E})$ for some equivalence structure \mathfrak{E} . Then by Theorem 2.3.3, $\mathbf{d} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{E})$ for some $\mathbf{d} \leq \mathbf{0}'$. So $\mathbf{d} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$, and $\mathbf{0}'$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{L} .

2.4 Rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups

We can also obtain the desired separation of degree spectra in the case of linear orders vs. rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups. First, note that we have the following analogue of Theorem 2.1.14. **Theorem 2.4.1.** If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ such that $S \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, then $S \in \Sigma_1^0$.

The proof is the same as that of Theorem 2.1.14 presented in Section 2.1 without the jump. Recall the definition of a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group from Section 1.2. We now define the standard type of any subgroup of \mathbb{Q} as in Coles, Downey, and Slaman [7]. This will play the role of the set S in the lemmas to come.

Definition 2.4.2. Let $p_1 < p_2 < \ldots$ be the primes, and let \mathfrak{G} be a subgroup of \mathbb{Q} .

(1) For a prime p, the p-height $h_p(a)$ of an $a \in |\mathfrak{G}|, a \neq 0_{\mathfrak{G}}$, is

$$h_p(a) = \begin{cases} k, & \text{if } k \text{ is greatest such that } p^k | a \text{ in } \mathfrak{G}, \\\\ \infty, & \text{if } p^k | a \text{ for all } k. \end{cases}$$

(2) The *characteristic* of a is the sequence

$$\chi(a) = (h_{p_1}(a), h_{p_2}(a), h_{p_3}(a), \ldots).$$

(3) The standard type $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of \mathfrak{G} relative to a fixed $a \in |\mathfrak{G}|, a \neq 0_{\mathfrak{G}}$, is

$$S(\mathfrak{G}) = \{ (i,j) \mid (\exists g)(p_i^j g = a) \}.$$

Now we have the two lemmas for rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups which are the analogues of Lemmas 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 for finite-component graphs and Lemmas 2.3.1 and 2.3.2 for equivalence structures. **Lemma 2.4.3.** If \mathfrak{G} is a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group, then $S(\mathfrak{G}) \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$ for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{G}$.

Proof. Nonuniformly fix a $b \in |\mathfrak{B}|$ that corresponds to $a \in |\mathfrak{G}|$. Then

$$S(\mathfrak{G}) = \{(i,j) \mid (\exists g \in |\mathfrak{B}|)(p_i^j g = b)\}$$

is clearly $\Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$.

See the proof of Theorem 17 in [7] for the proof of this second lemma.

Lemma 2.4.4. If \mathfrak{G} is a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group, $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, and $S(\mathfrak{G}) \in \Sigma_1^X$, then there is a $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\mathfrak{B}) \leq_T X$.

By reasoning familiar now from the cases of finite-component graphs and equivalence structures, we have the following two theorems.

Theorem 2.4.5. If \mathfrak{A} is a linear order and \mathfrak{G} is a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) \subseteq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$, then **0** computes a copy of \mathfrak{G} (and so $\mathbf{D} = \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$).

Proof. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{G} be as in the hypothesis. Fix a copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} . Let $\hat{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T D(\mathfrak{B})$. Then by Lemma 2.4.3, $S_{\mathfrak{G}} = S_{\hat{\mathfrak{G}}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}})} \subseteq \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$. So by Theorem 2.4.1, $S_{\mathfrak{G}} \in \Sigma_1^0$. Thus Lemma 2.4.4 says there is a $\tilde{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T \emptyset$, so $\mathfrak{0}$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{G} .

Theorem 2.4.6. There is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) \neq \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$ for any rank-1 torsion-free abelian group \mathfrak{G} . In fact, the only spectrum that can be

the spectrum of both a linear order and a rank-1 torsion-free abelian group is the trivial spectrum (i.e., the spectrum of a computable structure).

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.4, let \mathfrak{L} be a linear order such that $\mathbf{0}$ cannot compute a copy of \mathfrak{L} . For a contradiction, assume that $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L}) = \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$ for some rank-1 torsion-free abelian group \mathfrak{G} . Then by Theorem 2.4.5, $\mathbf{0} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$. So $\mathbf{0} \in \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{L})$, and $\mathbf{0}$ computes a copy of \mathfrak{L} . □

Chapter 3

Families of sets

In this chapter, we perform the same analysis on degree spectra of structures as we did in Chapter 2, only now we work with enumerations of countable *families* of sets instead of enumerations of countable sets. This will add to our list of examples—in the sense of Chapter 2, we can separate the degree spectrum of linear orders from that of finite-component graphs, equivalence structures, rank-1 torsion-free abelian groups, and now *daisy graphs*, as presented in Section 3.2.

To see exactly how the methods of this chapter will extend those of Chapter 2, notice later that within the proof of our main separation of degree spectra result, Theorem 3.2.9, we prove the family-of-sets analogue to Theorem 2.1.14. That is, we prove that if S is a countable family of sets and if \mathfrak{L} is a linear order such that \mathfrak{L} has the \sim_3 -property and such that for every $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{L}$, S has an enumeration $\nu_{\mathfrak{B}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$, then S has an enumeration $\nu \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset''}$.

3.1 Extending to enumerations of families of sets

Definition 3.1.1. Let $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ be a countable family of subsets of \mathbb{N} . A binary relation ν is called an *enumeration* of S if $S = \{\nu(i) \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\}$, where $\nu(i) = \{x \mid (i, x) \in \nu\}$.

We use the same forcing setup as in Section 2.1 (where we fix a structure \mathfrak{A} and build a generic copy \mathfrak{B} via a chain of forcing conditions), and we use the same forcing statements as in Definitions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4. Let $W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}[n] = \{x \mid (n,x) \in W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}\}$ denote the *n*-th column of $W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$. Add the following informal forcing statements to our list in Definitions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4. Again, we use $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p$ in place of $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}}$ when defining a quasi forcing statement.

Definition 3.1.2. Let $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi$ and $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p \psi$ be defined as follows.

6.
$$\psi$$
 is $W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$, for some $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ and some n, m :
 $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p \psi \iff X = \{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq p)(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n, k) = l\}.$
 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi \iff (\forall q \supseteq p) \Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^q W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X.$
 $p \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \neg \psi \iff$ there is no $q \supseteq p$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \psi.$

7. ψ is $W_e^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S, for some countable $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ and some m: $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p \psi \iff S = \{X \mid (\exists n)(\exists q \supseteq p)q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X\}.$

The following three lemmas, where \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are linear orders and S is a countable subset of $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$, will yield our degree spectra separation result for daisy

graphs, Theorem 3.2.9, along with our result linking degree spectra to families of sets in general, Theorem 3.2.12.

Lemma 3.1.3. If, for all $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, S has an enumeration c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}$, then there are p and e such that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S.

Proof. Assume for every p and e, the condition that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p} W_{e}^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S fails. It suffices to show that there is an m-complete sequence $(p_{i})_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ that determines a generic copy \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{A} such that S has no enumeration c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}$. By our assumption, the following holds for every p and e:

$$(\exists X \in S)(\forall n)(\forall q \supseteq p)q \not\Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$$
(3.1.1)

or

$$(\exists X \notin S)(\exists n)(\exists q \supseteq p)q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$$
(3.1.2)

Now we can state exactly what requirements need to be met by the sequence of forcing conditions p_e , noting that interleaved with what we are actually doing in the construction, there are other stages making the sequence *m*-complete (just as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.8). For each *e*, we have a master requirement that needs to make $W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$ not an enumeration of the family *S*. This master requirement will be met in one of two ways. Either it will make sure that there is an $X \notin S$, a condition p_i , and a number $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$p_i \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X,$$

or it will make sure that there is an $X \in S$ and an infinite sequence of conditions p_{i_n} for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each n,

$$p_{i_n} \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] \neq X$$

(so that X is not any column of $W_e^{D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}}$).

To build $(p_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$, let $p_0 = \emptyset$. Suppose that we have defined p_i and that the next master requirement to meet is for the index e. If (3.1.2) holds, then let p_{i+1} be a $q \supseteq p_i$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$ for an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \notin S$ guaranteed by (3.1.2). Notice that if $(p_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is *m*-complete, then each statement of the form $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) \downarrow$ is eventually forced or its negation is forced. If $p_{i+1} \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$, then there cannot be an extension forcing $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) \uparrow$ if $k \in X$. So we must have $\varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) \downarrow$ eventually forced. This action satisfies the master requirement.

Otherwise, suppose that (3.1.1) holds. Fix an $X \in S$ such that for every nand every $q \supseteq p_i$,

$$(\exists q' \supseteq q)X \neq \{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq q')(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}.$$
(3.1.3)

Define infinitely many subrequirements corresponding to the infinite sequence p_{i_n} . Let the master requirement dovetail the action of these requirements with the action of future master requirements.

To meet the subrequirement for n given a current forcing condition p_i , consider a $q' \supseteq p_i$ such that $X \neq \{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq q')(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}$ as guaranteed

by (3.1.3). For such a q', we have either

$$(\exists k \in X) (\forall r \supseteq q') (\forall l) r \not\models_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$$
(3.1.4)

or

$$(\exists k \notin X)(\exists r \supseteq q')(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l.$$
(3.1.5)

If (3.1.5) holds, then let p_{i+1} be an $r \supseteq q' \supseteq p_i$ such that $r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$ for an $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \notin X$ as guaranteed by (3.1.5). If (3.1.4) holds instead, let $p_{i+1} = q'$. Fix $k \in X$ such that

$$(\forall r \supseteq p_{i+1})(\forall l)r \not\models_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l_{\mathfrak{A}}$$

and we have $p_{i+1} \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k)\uparrow$, so because $k \in X$, $p_{i+1} \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] \neq X$.

Thus the dovetailed subrequirements get met one by one, and at the end of the construction, the master requirement is met. So $(p_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ determines a generic $\mathfrak{B} \cong \mathfrak{A}$ such that S has no enumeration c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}$ as desired.

Lemma 3.1.4. If $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^{p} W_{e}^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates *S*, then *S* has an enumeration *c.e.* in $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m+2)}$.

Proof. Suppose that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^{p} W_{e}^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S. Then

$$S = \{X \mid (\exists n)(\exists q \supseteq p)q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X\}.$$

Now for any set $X, q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X$ iff for each $k \in X$,

$$(\forall q' \supseteq q)(\exists r \supseteq q')(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$$
(3.1.6)

and for each $k \notin X$,

$$(\forall r \supseteq q)(\forall l)r \not\Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l.$$
(3.1.7)

Thus, we can capture the notion of a condition q forcing $W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n]$ being equal to some set. Indeed, we say

$$q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] \text{ is determined} : \iff (\forall k)[(3.1.6) \text{ holds} \lor (3.1.7) \text{ holds}].$$
 (3.1.8)

So to enumerate S, we need to find the conditions $q \supseteq p$ such that $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n]$ is determined and then enumerate the sets

$$\{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq q)(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}$$

for such conditions q. Since (by Fact 2.1.5 and the same reasoning as in Lemma 2.1.7) the relation $r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$ is c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m)}, D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m+2)}$ can compute whether $q \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n]$ is determined (by the complexity of the definition in (3.1.8)). Therefore, $D(\mathfrak{B})^{(m+2)}$ can enumerate the sets determined by an extension of p.

Lemma 3.1.5. Let $\overline{a} \in |\mathfrak{A}|$ and $\overline{b} \in |\mathfrak{B}|$. Suppose $p(\overline{a}) = q(\overline{b}) = \overline{k}$. If $\diamondsuit_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S and $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{m+3} \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, then $\diamondsuit_{\mathfrak{B}}^q W_e^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S.

Proof. Suppose that $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^{p} W_{e}^{D^{(m)}}$ enumerates S and $\overline{a}_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{m+3} \overline{b}_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Define

$$P_{\mathfrak{A}} = \{ X \mid (\exists n) (\exists r \supseteq p) r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X \};$$
$$P_{\mathfrak{B}} = \{ X \mid (\exists n) (\exists r \supseteq q) r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} W_e^{D^{(m)}}[n] = X \}.$$

Then $S = P_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and we wish to prove $S = P_{\mathfrak{B}}$, so it suffices to show that $P_{\mathfrak{A}} = P_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Now, $X \in P_{\mathfrak{A}}$ iff

$$(\exists n)(\exists p_1 \supseteq p)(\forall p_2 \supseteq p_1)X = \{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq p_2)(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}, \quad (3.1.9)$$

and $X \in P_{\mathfrak{B}}$ iff

$$(\exists n)(\exists q_1 \supseteq q)(\forall q_2 \supseteq q_1)X = \{k \mid (\exists r' \supseteq q_2)(\exists l)r' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}.$$

Let $X \in P_{\mathfrak{A}}$, and let n and $p_1 \supseteq p$ be as in (3.1.9). Then there is a $q_1 \supseteq q$ such that $\operatorname{dom}(p_1)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{m+2} \operatorname{dom}(q_1)$. Let $q_2 \supseteq q_1$. Then there is a $p_2 \supseteq p_1$ such that $\operatorname{dom}(p_2)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_{m+1} \operatorname{dom}(q_2)$. Therefore,

$$X = \{k \mid (\exists r \supseteq p_2)(\exists l)r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}$$

by (3.1.9).

We claim that

$$X = \{k \mid (\exists r' \supseteq q_2)(\exists l)r' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l\}.$$

On one hand, let $k \in X$. So take $r \supseteq p_2$ such that $r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$ for some l. Then there is an $r' \supseteq q_2$ such that $\operatorname{dom}(r)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_m \operatorname{dom}(r')_{\mathfrak{B}}$. By Fact 2.1.9, $r' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$. On the other hand, let k and $r' \supseteq q_2$ be such that $r' \Vdash_{\mathfrak{B}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$ for some l. Then there is an $r \supseteq p_2$ such that $\operatorname{dom}(r)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_m$ $\operatorname{dom}(r')_{\mathfrak{B}}$; hence, $r \Vdash_{\mathfrak{A}} \varphi_e^{D^{(m)}}(n,k) = l$. So $k \in X$.

Therefore, since $q_2 \supseteq q_1$ was arbitrary, $X \in P_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Notice that the same argument shows that $X \in P_{\mathfrak{B}} \Longrightarrow X \in P_{\mathfrak{A}}$. Hence $P_{\mathfrak{A}} = P_{\mathfrak{B}}$.

3.2 Application to Daisy Graphs

We can now show the separation of degree spectra for daisy graphs. We define a daisy graph of a countable family S of sets in a similar way as in Goncharov, et al. [17]. We are interested in two kinds of daisy graphs, those that repeat each set in S infinitely many times and those that mention each set in S only once. We therefore consider not only enumerations of S, but 1-1 enumerations of S, which are also defined below.

Definition 3.2.1. Let $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ be a countable family of sets.

• For each $X \in S$, define $\mathfrak{G}(X)$ to be the directed graph consisting of one root node r at the center, with $r \to r$, and for each $x \in X$, a *petal* of the form

$$r \to x_0 \to \cdots \to x_n \to r.$$

The petals are disjoint except for the root node, which is common to all.

- Let the repeat daisy graph $\mathfrak{G}_{\infty}(S)$ of S be the union of the disjoint family of graphs $\mathfrak{G}(X)$ for $X \in S$, having infinitely many $\mathfrak{G}(X)$ for each X.
- Let the 1-1 daisy graph $\mathfrak{G}(S)$ of S be the union of the disjoint family of graphs $\mathfrak{G}(X)$ for $X \in S$, having one $\mathfrak{G}(X)$ for each X.
- We say that \mathfrak{G} is a *daisy graph* of S if \mathfrak{G} is either $\mathfrak{G}_{\infty}(S)$ or $\mathfrak{G}(S)$.
- μ is a 1-1 enumeration of S if μ is an enumeration of S and for all $i \neq j$, $\mu(i) \neq \mu(j)$.

As a brief remark on the computational complexity of daisy graphs, before investigating their degree spectra, there are daisy graphs with all possible *computable dimension*. The *computable dimension* of a computably presentable structure \mathfrak{A} is the number of computable presentations of \mathfrak{A} up to computable isomorphism. Indeed, Theorem 4.3 of [17] (due to Goncharov) states that for each *n*, there is a daisy graph of computable dimension *n*. Hence daisy graphs can exhibit complicated behavior, from a computable model theoretic standpoint, so it is worth noting that they are non-universal.

At the beginning of the chapter we mentioned that in the proof our main result for repeat daisy graphs, Theorem 3.2.9, we will show that if for every copy \mathfrak{B} of a linear order that has the \sim_3 -property, S has an enumeration $\nu_{\mathfrak{B}} \in \Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{B})}$, then S has an enumeration $\nu \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset''}$. So to obtain a version of Theorem 3.2.9 for 1-1 daisy graphs, we will use this result and then finish the proof by employing the following lemma.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ be a countable family of sets, and let ν be an enumeration of S. If $\nu \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset^{(m)}}$, then there is a 1-1 enumeration μ of S such that $\mu \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset^{(m+2)}}$. (In fact, μ is computable in $\emptyset^{(m+2)}$.)

Proof. Suppose that $\nu \in \Sigma_1^{\emptyset^{(m)}}$. For $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $\nu(i) = \nu(j)$ iff

$$(\forall x)(\nu(i,x) \iff \nu(j,x)). \tag{3.2.1}$$

Since (3.2.1) is $\Pi_2^{\emptyset^{(m)}}$, $\emptyset^{(m+2)}$ can compute whether $\nu(i) = \nu(j)$. Define the 1-1

enumeration μ by $\mu(0) = \nu(0)$ and $\mu(i+1) = \nu(j)$, where j is least such that $\mu(0) \neq \nu(j), \dots, \mu(i) \neq \nu(j).$

To obtain the full application to daisy graphs, we will use the following facts about linear order multiplication and the \sim_n relation. For linear orders \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} , the notation $\mathfrak{A} \cdot \mathfrak{B}$ denotes the replacement of each point of \mathfrak{B} by a copy of \mathfrak{A} . Lemma 3.2.3 follows from an easy induction on n; Lemma 3.2.4 follows from Lemma 3.2.3, which we show; and Lemma 3.2.5 follows quickly from the definition of the \sim_n -relation.

Lemma 3.2.3. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} be linear orderings. Suppose that $\overline{a} \in |\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{A}|$, $\overline{b} \in |\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{B}|$, and $|[a_i, a_j]| = k$ iff $|[b_i, b_j]| = k$. Then

$$(\overline{a}/\approx)_{\mathfrak{A}}\sim_n (\overline{b}/\approx)_{\hat{\mathfrak{B}}}\implies \overline{a}_{\mathbb{Z}\cdot\mathfrak{A}}\sim_{n+1}\overline{b}_{\mathbb{Z}\cdot\mathfrak{B}},$$

where we say $c_i \approx c_j$ if $[c_i, c_j]$ is finite.

Lemma 3.2.4. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are linear orders such that $\mathfrak{A} \sim_n \mathfrak{B}$, then for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mathbb{Z}^k \cdot \mathfrak{A} \sim_{n+k} \mathbb{Z}^k \cdot \mathfrak{B}$.

Proof. Notice that by induction, it suffices to show $\mathfrak{A} \sim_n \mathfrak{B} \implies \mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{A} \sim_{n+1} \mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{B}$. Let $\overline{a_0} \in |\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{A}|$. Pick $\overline{b_0} \in |\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{B}|$ such that $(\overline{a_0}/\approx)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_n (\overline{b_0}/\approx)_{\mathfrak{B}}$ and such that if $a_i < a_j$ in some \mathbb{Z} copy, then $b_i < b_j$ in some \mathbb{Z} copy and $|[a_i, a_j]| = |[b_i, b_j]|$. Then by Lemma 3.2.3, $\overline{a}_{\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{A}} \sim_{n+1} \overline{b}_{\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{B}}$.

Lemma 3.2.5. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} are linear orders such that $\mathfrak{A} \sim_n \mathfrak{B}$, then for any linear orders α and β , $\alpha + \mathfrak{A} + \beta \sim_n \alpha + \mathfrak{B} + \beta$. Now, keeping in mind how we obtained the results for finite-component graphs and our other examples, we have two immediate lemmas for daisy graphs that lead us to their separation from linear orders with respect to degree spectra. Notice the third lemma stated is a 1-1 version of Lemma 3.2.7 for the application to 1-1 daisy graphs.

Lemma 3.2.6. If \mathfrak{G} is a daisy graph of a countable family S of sets, then S has an enumeration in $\Sigma_1^{D(\mathfrak{G})}$.

Proof. As we see a petal of size x + 2 appear off of the i^{th} root node of \mathfrak{G} , put x into the i^{th} set of the enumeration. Eventually we will list an enumeration of S.

Lemma 3.2.7. Let \mathfrak{G} be a repeat daisy graph of a countable family S of sets, and let $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. If S has an enumeration in Σ_1^X , then there is a $\hat{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T X$.

Proof. The copy $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ of \mathfrak{G} is the graph built by letting X print out an enumeration ν of S and putting in the corresponding root nodes and petals as we see new sets and elements get listed, making sure to repeat each component infinitely many times to get $\mathfrak{G}_{\infty}(S)$. For X to correctly determine whether two vertices v_1, v_2 are connected by an edge in $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$, print enough of ν to find the petal(s) containing v_1, v_2 .

Lemma 3.2.8. Let \mathfrak{G} be a 1-1 daisy graph of a countable family S of sets, and let $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. If S has a 1-1 enumeration in Σ_1^X , then there is a $\hat{\mathfrak{G}} \cong \mathfrak{G}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{G}}) \leq_T X$.

The proof of this lemma is the same as Lemma 3.2.7, except we do not copy each component infinitely many times. Now we can state the separation of degree spectra first for repeat daisy graphs and then for 1-1 daisy graphs.

Theorem 3.2.9. There is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{L}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{G})$ for any repeat daisy graph \mathfrak{G} .

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.4, let \mathfrak{L} be a linear ordering such that \mathfrak{L} has no $\mathbf{0}^{(4)}$ -copy. From the iterated and relativized version of Theorem 9.10 in Ash and Knight [2] (a result originally due to Watnick [32], as is said in [2]), if $\mathbb{Z}^k \cdot \mathfrak{L}$ has a $\mathbf{0}^{(n)}$ -copy for some k and n, then \mathfrak{L} has a $\mathbf{0}^{(n+2k)}$ -copy. Let $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{L}$. Therefore, in our case, \mathfrak{A} has no $\mathbf{0}^{(2)}$ copy. Let $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ be a countable family of sets, and let $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_{\infty}(S)$ be the repeat daisy graph of S.

Assume, for a contradiction, that $DgSp(\mathfrak{A}) = DgSp(\mathfrak{G})$. Then every copy of \mathfrak{A} computes a copy of \mathfrak{G} . Then Lemma 3.2.6 shows that for every $\tilde{\mathfrak{A}} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, S has an enumeration c.e. in $D(\tilde{\mathfrak{A}})$. By Lemma 3.1.3, $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{A}}^p W_e^D$ enumerates S for some p and e.

Following the proof of Theorem 2.1.14, let dom(p) consist of $a_0 < \cdots < a_{n-1}$, and for $0 \le i \le n$, define the intervals I_i just as we did before. Now associate to each a_i the $l_j \in \mathfrak{L}$ that corresponds to the copy of \mathbb{Z} containing a_i ; for each l_j , give each associated a_i a new name: a_i^j . Say the list of l_j 's is l_1, \ldots, l_m . For $0 \le j \le m$, define intervals L_j in \mathfrak{L} just as we defined I_i in $\mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{L}$. Notice that, if defined, $I_0 = \mathbb{Z} \cdot L_0 + \mathbb{N}^*$ and $I_n = \mathbb{N} + \mathbb{Z} \cdot L_m$. Notice also that for 0 < i < n, I_i takes on one of two forms:

$$I_i = k,$$
$$I_i = \mathbb{N} + \mathbb{Z} \cdot L_j + \mathbb{N}^*.$$

By Fact 2.1.12, there are computable orderings K_i such that $K_i \sim_2 L_i$. Replacing L_i by K_i produces a computable ordering \mathfrak{B} with new intervals J_i that replace the I_i . Now by Lemmas 3.2.4 and 3.2.5, $\alpha + \mathbb{Z} \cdot L_j + \beta \sim_3 \alpha + \mathbb{Z} \cdot K_j + \beta$ for any linear orders α and β . Then because the J_i take on one of the forms $J_0 = \mathbb{Z} \cdot K_0 + \mathbb{N}^*$, $J_n = \mathbb{N} + \mathbb{Z} \cdot K_m$, $J_i = k$, and $J_i = \mathbb{N} + \mathbb{Z} \cdot K_j + \mathbb{N}^*$, we have $I_i \sim_3 J_i$. Using Fact 2.1.13, dom $(p)_{\mathfrak{A}} \sim_3 \operatorname{dom}(p)_{\mathfrak{B}}$. So by Lemma 3.1.5, $\Diamond_{\mathfrak{B}}^p W_e^D$ enumerates S, so S has an enumeration c.e. in $D(\mathfrak{B})'' \equiv_T \emptyset''$ by Lemma 3.1.4. Hence \mathfrak{G} has a $\mathbf{0}^{(2)}$ -copy by Lemma 3.2.7. Since $\operatorname{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) = \operatorname{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$, \mathfrak{A} has a $\mathbf{0}^{(2)}$ -copy also, a contradiction.

Now by applying Lemma 3.2.2, we obtain the following 1-1 enumeration of Theorem 3.2.9.

Theorem 3.2.10. There is a linear order \mathfrak{L} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{L}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{G})$ for any 1-1 daisy graph \mathfrak{G} .

Proof. Follow the exact same proof as Theorem 3.2.9, only begin with a linear order \mathfrak{L} with no $\mathbf{0}^{(6)}$ -copy so that $\mathfrak{A} = \mathbb{Z} \cdot \mathfrak{L}$ has no $\mathbf{0}^{(4)}$ -copy. Also, we let $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}(S)$, not $\mathfrak{G}_{\infty}(S)$. Skip then to the end of the proof. Instead of applying Lemma 3.2.7, say that by Lemma 3.2.2, S has a 1-1 enumeration c.e. in $\emptyset^{(4)}$. Hence \mathfrak{G} has a $\mathbf{0}^{(4)}$ -copy by Lemma 3.2.8. Again, $\mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{A}) = \mathrm{DgSp}(\mathfrak{G})$, which gives the contradiction.

Definition 3.2.11. Define the class \mathcal{E} of structures as follows.

- For a countable family $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$, let \mathcal{E}_S be the class of structures \mathfrak{A} that satisfy the following conditions.
 - 1. For all $\hat{\mathfrak{A}} \cong \mathfrak{A}$, S has an enumeration in $\Sigma_1^{D(\hat{\mathfrak{A}})}$.
 - 2. If S has an enumeration in Σ_1^X for some $X \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, then there is an $\hat{\mathfrak{A}} \cong \mathfrak{A}$ such that $D(\hat{\mathfrak{A}}) \leq_T X$.

• Let

$$\mathcal{E} = \bigcup_{S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N}) \text{ countable}} \mathcal{E}_S.$$

The exact same arguments used in Theorem 3.2.9 yield the following generalized result (where now in place of Lemmas 3.2.6 and 3.2.7, we invoke conditions 1 and 2 in the definition of \mathcal{E}_S , respectively).

Theorem 3.2.12. There is a linear order \mathfrak{A} such that $DgSp(\mathfrak{A}) \neq DgSp(\mathfrak{B})$ for any $\mathfrak{B} \in \mathcal{E}$.

Bibliography

- C. J. Ash, C. G. Jockusch, Jr., and J. F. Knight. Jumps of orderings. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 319(2):573–599, 1990.
- [2] C. J. Ash and J. Knight. Computable structures and the hyperarithmetical hierarchy, volume 144 of Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 2000.
- [3] Chris Ash, Julia Knight, Mark Manasse, and Theodore Slaman. Generic copies of countable structures. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 42(3):195–205, 1989.
- [4] W. Calvert, S. S. Goncharov, and J. F. Knight. Computable structures of Scott rank ω₁^{CK} in familiar classes. In Advances in logic, volume 425 of Contemp. Math., pages 49–66. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007.
- [5] Peter Cholak, Sergey Goncharov, Bakhadyr Khoussainov, and Richard A. Shore. Computably categorical structures and expansions by constants. J. Symbolic Logic, 64(1):13–37, 1999.
- [6] Harizanov Chubb, Frolov. Degree spectra of the successor relation of computable linear orderings. *Archive for Mathematical Logic*. (to appear).
- [7] Richard J. Coles, Rod G. Downey, and Theodore A. Slaman. Every set has a least jump enumeration. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 62(3):641–649, 2000.
- [8] Reinhard Diestel. *Graph theory*, volume 173 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 2000.
- [9] R. G. Downey. Computability theory and linear orderings. In Handbook of recursive mathematics, Vol. 2, volume 139 of Stud. Logic Found. Math., pages 823–976. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1998.
- [10] Rod Downey. Computability, definability and algebraic structures. In Proceedings of the 7th and 8th Asian Logic Conferences, pages 63–102, Singapore, 2003. Singapore Univ. Press.

- [11] Rod Downey and Carl G. Jockusch. Every low Boolean algebra is isomorphic to a recursive one. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 122(3):871–880, 1994.
- [12] Rodney G. Downey. On presentations of algebraic structures. In Complexity, logic, and recursion theory, volume 187 of Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., pages 157–205. Dekker, New York, 1997.
- [13] Rodney G. Downey, Steffen Lempp, and Richard A. Shore. Jumps of minimal degrees below 0'. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 54(3):417–439, 1996.
- [14] Sy D. Friedman and Saharon Shelah. Tall α-recursive structures. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 88(4):672–678, 1983.
- [15] S. S. Gončarov. Autostability and computable families of constructivizations. Algebra i Logika, 14(6):647–680, 1975. (Russian).
- [16] S. S. Gončarov. The number of nonautoequivalent constructivizations. Algebra i Logika, 16(3):257–282, 377, 1977. (Russian).
- [17] Sergey Goncharov, Valentina Harizanov, Julia Knight, Charles McCoy, Russell Miller, and Reed Solomon. Enumerations in computable structure theory. *Ann. Pure Appl. Logic*, 136(3):219–246, 2005.
- [18] Valentina S. Harizanov. Pure computable model theory. In Handbook of recursive mathematics, Vol. 1, volume 138 of Stud. Logic Found. Math., pages 3–114. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1998.
- [19] Denis R. Hirschfeldt. Computable trees, prime models, and relative decidability. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 134(5):1495–1498 (electronic), 2006.
- [20] Denis R. Hirschfeldt, Bakhadyr Khoussainov, Richard A. Shore, and Arkadii M. Slinko. Degree spectra and computable dimensions in algebraic structures. Ann. Pure Appl. Logic, 115(1-3):71–113, 2002.
- [21] Carl G. Jockusch, Jr. and Robert I. Soare. Π⁰₁ classes and degrees of theories. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 173:33–56, 1972.
- [22] Carl G. Jockusch, Jr. and Robert I. Soare. Boolean algebras, Stone spaces, and the iterated Turing jump. J. Symbolic Logic, 59(4):1121–1138, 1994.
- [23] Julia F. Knight. Degrees coded in jumps of orderings. J. Symbolic Logic, 51(4):1034–1042, 1986.
- [24] Kenneth Kunen. Set theory, volume 102 of Studies in Logic and the Foundations of Mathematics. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1983. An introduction to independence proofs, Reprint of the 1980 original.

- [25] Manuel Lerman. Degrees of unsolvability. Perspectives in Mathematical Logic. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983. Local and global theory.
- [26] David Marker. *Model theory*, volume 217 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002. An introduction.
- [27] J. B. Remmel. Recursively categorical linear orderings. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 83(2):387–391, 1981.
- [28] Linda Jean Richter. Degrees of structures. J. Symbolic Logic, 46(4):723–731, 1981.
- [29] Robert I. Soare. The infinite injury priority method. J. Symbolic Logic, 41(2):513–530, 1976.
- [30] Robert I. Soare. *Recursively enumerable sets and degrees.* Perspectives in Mathematical Logic. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1987. A study of computable functions and computably generated sets.
- [31] Robert I. Soare. Computability Theorey and Applications [CTA]. under contract with Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 20?? (under revision).
- [32] Richard Watnick. A generalization of Tennenbaum's theorem on effectively finite recursive linear orderings. J. Symbolic Logic, 49(2):563–569, 1984.